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Introduction

FOR AS LONG AS I CAN REMEMBER, the National Football League has had an aura around it.

When I was a boy in New York, tickets to see the New York Giants play in Yankee Stadium were as coveted as a seat on the New York Stock Exchange. No one I knew could remember when Giants tickets had been sold to the general public. What’s more, if you lived in New York, there was no way to see Giants home games on television because Commissioner Pete Rozelle’s blackout rules forbade broadcast of games within a seventy-five-mile radius of the stadium where they were played. I knew New Yorkers who drove to Connecticut on Sundays so they could watch the Giants game on the CBS affiliate in Hartford. Even then, in the 1960s, every NFL game was a big deal.

I grew up listening to Marty Glickman, Al DeRogatis, and Chip Cipolla broadcast the home games on WNEW radio. In that sense, I was fortunate, because Glickman was a genius and I loved listening to him say, “Take it, DeRo,” when it was time to break down a play. At the same time, I became a fan of the New York Jets, who had a flashy young quarterback named Joe Namath and, most important, tickets available. My friends and I would buy $3 standing-room tickets and almost always find empty seats in the corporate boxes in the downstairs sections of Shea Stadium, especially late in the season when the weather got cold. I still remember my dad getting tickets from a friend to see the Jets play the Houston Oilers in 1965, two days after I’d had eight teeth taken out in preparation for orthodonture. I couldn’t eat much at the game, but Namath threw four touchdown passes and the Jets won, 41-14.

On the day that the Jets played the Baltimore Colts in Super Bowl III—January 12, 1969, a date I never have to look up—I paced up and down in front of the television set as the game began. That had become my superstition. When I paced, the Jets won. By the fourth quarter the Jets were leading, 16-0, and my father came home from a concert, walked in, and asked me the score. When I told him, he was shocked and sat down to watch. “Stop pacing,” he said. “You’re making me dizzy.”

The lead seemed comfortable enough. I sat down. Don Shula put Johnny Unitas into the game and he immediately took the Colts the length of the field to cut the margin to 16-7. “Go ahead and pace,” my father said, knowing I would never forgive him if the Colts somehow pulled the game out. They didn’t, of course, and history was made. The Jets haven’t been back to the Super Bowl since. Maybe I should have kept pacing.

I always knew pro football was a big deal when I was a kid. After all, there were only fourteen regular season games, so they all mattered. But it wasn’t until my parents moved to Washington during my senior year of high school that I understood how it can become an entire town’s obsession. My parents’ move coincided with George Allen’s second season as coach of the Redskins. I was finishing high school in New York, but I went to Washington most weekends and I was amazed by the Redskins’ hold on the entire city. As I watched television, listened to the radio, read the sports section of the Washington Post and the Washington Star, it was as if nothing else existed. I still remember going to the Safeway one Sunday afternoon during a Redskins game and feeling as if I had wandered into a ghost town. The guy behind the counter looked at me strangely, as if to say, “If you don’t have to be out, why are you?” He had a radio tuned to the game, naturally.

When the Redskins went to the Super Bowl that season, the story seemed only slightly more important than the impending end of the Vietnam War. Richard Nixon was sending plays to Allen from the White House. When the Redskins lost the Super Bowl to the Miami Dolphins, the entire city went into an extended state of depression.

I wasn’t a Redskins fan by any stretch of the imagination, but I loved reading the Post’s saturation coverage of the team. Leonard Shapiro, the Post’s Redskins beat writer, became one of my first heroes in journalism, as did Ken Denlinger, their primary Redskins columnist. When I joined the Post after college, I got a close-up look at how important the Redskins were to the newspaper, to the local media in Washington, and to the entire city. During my first year at the paper, I was sitting at my desk on the first day of the NFL draft—this was so long ago, it was before the draft was on TV—when Ben Bradlee, the Post’s legendary executive editor, came bouncing back to the sports section.

“Hey, George,” he yelled at sports editor George Solomon, “who’d we get?”

I was twenty-one and even more of a wise guy than I am now. “Jeez, Ben,” I said, “I didn’t realize the Post had a pick in the NFL draft.”

Bradlee whirled around, pointed a finger at me, and said, “Listen, Feinstein, if you don’t like the Redskins, you can get the f —— out of town right now.”

Those of you who have read or seen All the President’s Men know I’m not exaggerating about the profanity. What’s more, he wasn’t smiling when he said it.

I learned my lesson: don’t joke about the Redskins around the brass.

Twenty-five years later, little has changed in Washington or any other NFL city. The NFL team is the big news in town almost year-round. Those of us who still try to make the claim that baseball is the national pastime get laughed down in most quarters. Not only does the NFL have its own network—so does the NBA—people actually watch it. As I’m writing this paragraph, the NFL Network is providing in-depth coverage of the NFL combine. Think about this: people are sitting glued to their television sets, listening to scouts and general managers analyze the 40-yard-sprint times of wide receivers, the bench press of offensive linemen, and the arm strength of quarterbacks. Washington finally had a baseball team to cheer for in 2005 after thirty-three years without the sport, but there was far less speculation around town about the Nationals’ starting rotation than about the Redskins’ number one draft pick. A few miles up I-95, the acquisition of a solid wide receiver named Derrick Mason by the Ravens was at least as important to most people in Baltimore as the trade that brought Hall of Fame home run hitter Sammy Sosa to the Orioles.

I was never an NFL beat writer during my years at the Post, but I was assigned early on to write sidebars at Redskins games, then to cover big games in other cities. I always wanted to write a book about the NFL. What fascinated me about the league was that aura, the ability to do things that no other professional league can do. For instance, most professional sports make their players available to the press often. Almost every NFL team severely limits access to its players. There are limited times each week when the locker room is open to journalists, but most players simply stay out of the locker room during that time. Most practices are off-limits, except perhaps for a few minutes of stretching at the start of the day. Coaches are paranoid and secretive about everything. During his first stint in Washington, Coach Joe Gibbs once accused a friend of mine of writing a story about the weaknesses of an 0-5 Eagles team in order to get the Eagles fired up to beat the Redskins. He was completely serious.

And the NFL has clout with television far beyond other sports. NFL commissioner Paul Tagliabue, who had the good fortune to follow Pete Rozelle, undoubtedly the greatest commissioner in the history of sports, is professional sports’ Last Don. Two years ago, when ESPN began airing a fictional show called Playmakers, based on the off-field lives of NFL players that depicted virtually all of them as womanizers, drug users, liars, and all-night partiers, Don Tags was horrified. He informed the ESPN people that he wasn’t at all happy with the content of the show. It is worth remembering there may be no organization in sports that fancies itself more omnipotent than ESPN. The assumption among ESPN executives is that they are the most important people in sports. In fact, the Sporting News last year dubbed ESPN president George Bodenheimer number one on its list of the 100 most powerful people in sports.

They were wrong. Don Tags offered Bodenheimer and ESPN a deal they couldn’t refuse: get the show gone, or we might just take our Sunday night games (and the Monday night games that air on corporate sister ABC) elsewhere. ESPN couldn’t afford to take a chance on ending up with network TV’s version of a horse head in the bed: no NFL football. Even though the show’s ratings were very good and the reviews better than most of ESPN’s so-called original entertainment offerings, they canceled the show. Pure coincidence, everyone on both sides said. The NFL would never tell ESPN what to do. Of course it wouldn’t. It didn’t have to. The message was clear.

Last year, with ABC’s Monday Night Football ratings reaching record lows in part because of weak games that are placed on the schedule months before the season begins, Tagliabue decided it was time to strengthen the prime-time package—or packages, since the league has talked about possible Thursday and Saturday night games when its new TV deal begins in 2006—by cherry-picking key games late in the season and moving them from Sunday afternoon to Monday night. Such a move couldn’t possibly make Fox and CBS, who carry the Sunday games, very happy. And yet both willingly signed new deals in November of 2004 in which they agreed to pay more money—a total of $8 billion between the two of them, as opposed to $4.2 billion under terms of the current contract—in return for a weaker schedule. Only the NFL could sit at a negotiating table with two powerful networks and say with a straight face, we’re giving you less and in return we want more.

Then this spring the NFL renegotiated its prime-time packages. ESPN took over Monday Night Football, paying $1.1 billion a year, about double what ABC paid for a package that had been absolutely bleeding money the past few years. NBC, desperate to get back into the NFL after a few years of the XFL and Arena football, paid $600 million for the Sunday night deal—the same money ESPN had been paying for Sunday night games. At these prices it is almost impossible for any of the networks to actually make money on the NFL. They don’t care. They just want to have the NFL on their air.

I had several thoughts on how to go about writing an NFL book. One way was to use an approach I had enjoyed in writing about the pro golf tour, the pro tennis tours, and Major League baseball: just follow the sport for one season, from the draft through the Super Bowl. Certainly it would have been interesting to watch different teams, players, and coaches at critical times during the course of a season. But I knew doing such a book on the NFL wouldn’t be at all like golf or tennis, because those sports are covered year-round by only a handful of people and are in the consciousness of most of the public only during those few weeks a year when their major championships are being played. Baseball is covered like a blanket, but unlike football, there is constant access to the players, coaches, and managers, allowing someone like me to develop relationships and follow stories. I knew I wouldn’t get that opportunity in football, working with nothing more than a media credential.

The better route, I decided, was to find one team that could serve as an example of what life in the NFL is like. Each of the thirty-two teams is entirely different, of course, run by different people with different personalities and stories to tell. But the pressures are the same: the violent nature of the sport makes every game and, to a lesser degree, every practice an adventure. Every football team suffers serious injuries during the course of a season. No one knows when those injuries will occur or who will be hurt, just that someone will. There are no guaranteed contracts in the NFL. There may be no phrase in sports more meaningless than “Joe Smith signed a seven-year contract today” with an NFL team. The only thing the player is guaranteed is his signing bonus. A team can cut him five minutes later if it wants to and not pay him another cent. That’s why, every spring, star players are cut or have their contracts restructured for less money. Almost anyone can get cut if a team doesn’t think he is living up to the money he is being paid or if he is injured and not able to perform at the level expected when he was signed.

What’s more, the NFL season is seventeen weeks (including the bye) of intense pressure and scrutiny, and I thought following one team, up close, through the highs and lows of their season would be infinitely more dramatic than following an entire league or conference. Because there are only sixteen games, each one is viewed as something just short of life-and-death by everyone involved. One loss in football is the equivalent of a ten-game losing streak in baseball. There are few places on Earth more miserable than an NFL team’s training facility on the Monday morning after a loss. People talk in whispers, no one dares tell a joke or laugh out loud. Is that over the top? Sure. But livelihoods are at stake. Just look at how frequently coaches change jobs. Last year, when Brian Billick completed only his sixth season as coach of the Baltimore Ravens, he was tied for fourth place in longevity among NFL head coaches, behind only Bill Cowher (thirteen years in Pittsburgh), Jeff Fisher (ten years in Tennessee), and Mike Shanahan (ten years in Denver). The résumé of most NFL assistants reads like that of a career military man. Consider Mike Nolan, who left the Ravens at the end of last season to become the head coach in San Francisco. Nolan’s travelogue goes like this: Oregon; Stanford; Rice; LSU; Denver Broncos; New York Giants; Washington Redskins; New York Jets; Ravens. That means the move to San Francisco will be the tenth for his wife, Kathy, and their four children. Of course, Nolan’s a grizzled coaching veteran—he turned forty-six this past March.

In essence, I was looking for one team that would lift the NFL’s cloak of secrecy and let me inside. The Baltimore Ravens struck me as ideal for a number of reasons—one of them, in the interest of full disclosure, being that their training facility is only an hour from my home, so I could spend a lot of time there easily. But there was far more than that. The franchise has a fascinating history, first as the Cleveland Browns of legend, then as the controversial Ravens, their first controversial moment coming on November 6, 1995, when owner Art Modell announced his intention to move the team to Baltimore. In Brian Billick and Ray Lewis and Jamal Lewis they have a coach and players who have climbed the heights of the game and dealt with serious issues along the way—Billick’s being how he dealt with the murder charges against Ray Lewis following a horrific incident in Atlanta on Super Bowl Sunday night in 2000. The Ravens have been a very good team under Billick and Ozzie Newsome. They won the Super Bowl in January 2001, then went through a salary cap purge during the 2002 season that forced them to start almost back at square one as a franchise. They recovered quickly to win a division title in 2003 and entered 2004 with high hopes, believing they had the ingredients to be a Super Bowl team in February 2005. Why that didn’t happen makes for, I believe, a compelling story of dealing with injury and letdowns, controversy and dashed hopes. When I first approached the Ravens with the idea of making them the focus of a book about the NFL, I had no idea that I would get Deion Sanders as a bonus.

What also drew me to the Ravens was their reputation for stepping outside the box where media access is concerned. In 2001 they allowed HBO and NFL films total access to their training camp for the series Hard Knocks. Interestingly, Billick’s willingness to allow camera crews complete freedom in areas normally off-limits to any media was his belief that going through the experience might help his team. “We were the Super Bowl champions, so we were going to spend the entire season under the microscope,” he said. “Plus, we were Super Bowl champions who attracted a lot of off-field attention whether we wanted it or not, because of Ray, because of me getting the media upset at the Super Bowl when I defended Ray, because we were considered a team with a lot of bad boys and swagger. I figured if the guys spent training camp being trailed by cameras and microphones everywhere they turned, it would be easier for them to handle whatever came after that during the season.”

Of course, what I was asking was different. Allowing access behind the scenes during camp and exhibition games is one thing. Giving an outsider complete access when the real games start—not to mention during the draft—is quite another. Ravens owner Steve Bisciotti was comfortable with the idea right away, but he set up a meeting with general manager Ozzie Newsome and Coach Brian Billick because, as we both agreed, there was absolutely no point in starting the project if the general manager and coach resisted it.

The first question Ozzie Newsome asked during my initial meeting with the Ravens was “Why would I let you [a complete stranger] into my draft room when I won’t let ESPN [an NFL business partner] in there?”

It was a good question. The answer is this: live television, even a cut-up, taped segment, is essentially unfiltered. A book has the advantage of context, setting up why something happened as opposed to merely showing what happened.

The other question raised during the meeting was the one I had most expected: “Are you looking to write the book version of Playmakers?” (It wasn’t phrased just that way, but that’s what the question was.) The answer was no. As I pointed out, if a Raven got into serious trouble, all of that was going to be reported in the newspapers. If anything, by earning the trust of the players, I might be able to provide readers with—again—context on what actually happened. There’s no more perfect example than Jamal Lewis. Within a week of my initial meeting with the Ravens, the story broke about his arrest on drug-trafficking charges. It has since been adjudicated, and as I write this, Lewis is spending four months in jail as part of a plea bargain. There are people who will always believe that Ray Lewis is a murderer, and many of those will always also believe that Jamal Lewis is either a junkie or a drug dealer. The fact is that he’s neither. He made, by his own admission, a stupid mistake as a twenty-year-old, taken in by a good-looking woman. He was guilty of being twenty and naive as much as anything. The fact that the judge who handed down his sentence after the plea bargain said to him in open court that he was convinced there was almost no way Lewis would have been found guilty had the case gone to trial is fairly compelling evidence of that.

Some will no doubt say that makes me an apologist for Jamal Lewis. I understand. One of the perks of being a star athlete is that your fans will think you innocent of just about anything as long as you are performing (exhibit A: Barry Bonds in San Francisco). The flip side is that some fans of the opposition will consider you guilty, regardless of any evidence to the contrary. I have a tendency to deal in facts.

Maybe that’s why the Ravens said yes. They knew when they let me into their world that if one of their players was found guilty of a crime or acted like a jerk, I would report it. The Ravens aren’t perfect. As team owner Steve Bisciotti says, “If you have fifty-three rich young guys, they’re going to make mistakes.” Every team in the NFL is evidence of that. But they had enough confidence in the people in their organization to open it up to me. Billick was comfortable with my involvement, but all of Newsome’s football-player and general-manager instincts told him that you simply can’t let an outsider inside the secret society that is the NFL. Still, he gritted his teeth and agreed to go ahead, and for that I’m grateful. I think this book proves that they knew what they were doing.

My access, as you will read, was pretty much complete. Billick never once asked me to leave a room, and the players, who weren’t quite sure who I was or why I was there—many referred to me early on as “the book guy”— became, I believe, comfortable with my presence. Deion Sanders even took the trouble to pull my jacket collar up while we were standing in the tunnel in Pittsburgh, saying, “Man, you have to at least try to look good on the sideline.”

Steve Bisciotti’s role in this book cannot be overstated. He was my first contact with the Ravens because of our mutual friendship with Maryland basketball coach Gary Williams. Bisciotti is one of the more remarkable people I’ve ever met. As Kevin Byrne, the Ravens public relations honcho pointed out, “When you spend a little time with Steve, you understand that his success was not an accident.” Bisciotti is one of those very rich and successful people who feels no need to explain why he’s rich and successful. My friend Rob Ades, a lawyer who represents a lot of college basketball coaches, tells a story about playing golf with Bisciotti a couple of years ago and asking him what he did. “I’m with the Ravens,” Bisciotti answered.

“I thought he was in marketing,” Ades said. “We got along very well, so a couple months later I called and asked him if he wanted to go to a Maryland game because I had pretty good seats. He thanked me and said he actually had tickets of his own. I get to the game and I look across and he’s sitting in the front row at center court. I asked someone how he had gotten those seats because they seemed a little bit expensive. The answer I got was ‘Don’t you know who he is? He owns the Ravens.’”

At the time Bisciotti owned a mere 49 percent of the team. Now he owns 99 percent—former owner Art Modell retained a 1 percent stake when the final deal was cut on April 9 of 2004. At that first meeting back on February 10, 2004, I walked into the Ravens complex in Owings Mills a couple of minutes early and was explaining to Vernon Holley at the security desk that I had a ten o’clock appointment. Just as Holley picked up the phone to let someone know I had arrived, the door opened. Holley put down the phone and pointed behind me. “Here’s Steve now,” he said as Bisciotti walked up.

Think about those three words: “Here’s Steve now.” In how many NFL offices do you think the employees routinely refer to the owner by his first name? (I guarantee not in Washington, the one place where the NFL team owner is actually younger than Bisciotti, who is forty-five—four years older than the man his close friends and family call Mister Snyder).

My hope when I first approached Steve Bisciotti was to come away with a deeper understanding of what an NFL season is like. Certainly a 9-7 season was not what the Ravens had in mind when they planned that year. But the ups and downs the Ravens experienced certainly provided a fascinating story, full of more nuance and emotion than any amount of television commentary and capsule biography could deliver. There were great highs—a come-from-behind victory against the Jets—and great lows—a blown 20-3 lead at home against Cincinnati that ultimately cost the team a spot in the playoffs. There were conflicts, within the team and within the coaching staff, but as I came to understand, such disagreements are inevitable, especially on a team enduring a rocky season. I was asked often during the season if anything really surprised me. The answer was (and is) yes: the constant tension. The NFL is the most insecure world there is in professional sports because the season is so short, leaving little margin for error—injuries can occur quickly and in devastating fashion and today’s star can be tomorrow’s cut. Just check the small print in your newspaper’s sports section every March and every June.

I also got a better understanding of the hold the NFL has on people’s lives. The passion of the fans in every NFL city is a tribute to the quality of the game, to the league’s marketing, and to the fact that over the past forty years the league has become a cultural monolith. The hardest thing for everyone in the NFL to do, I think, is not to take themselves as seriously as the fans and the media do. That’s not easy. When you are treated as though you are special everywhere you go, it is easy to forget that it is the uniform you wear, not you, that makes people think you’re special. Just ask ex-players who were not stars how quickly those perks disappear.

Which is why I have to give Brian Billick credit. Many find him arrogant. Certainly he has the extreme self-assurance that virtually anyone who is very good at something has. But he also has a self-deprecating sense of humor that many people miss. On the last Sunday of the season, with the Ravens almost certain to miss the playoffs after a loss at Pittsburgh the previous week, Billick made his traditional walk from the team hotel in downtown Baltimore to the stadium. As he and Vernon Holley approached the entrance to the stadium, most of the fans waiting in line to be patted down by security moved aside for them, as they do every week.

One yellow-jacketed security guard planted himself between Billick and the entrance. “Sir, I need to pat you down,” he said.

Before Billick could say anything, three other security people jumped in and pointed out that the coach of the home team didn’t need to be patted down. Billick walked away, smiling.

“See what happens when you’re 8-7,” he said. “Everyone wants to pat you down.”

Everyone may not want to pat you down. But they certainly want to second-guess you at best, fire you at worst. To play, coach, or work in the NFL is to breathe rarefied air. But it can be very thin air at times, and breathing can be very difficult.

Which is what makes each week in an NFL season such a compelling story. The Ravens’ season in 2004 was a roller-coaster ride, filled with both chills and spills. This is the story of that ride.
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Unexpected Good-byes

January 3, 2005

FROM A DISTANCE, it looked like any other football Monday in Owings Mills, Maryland. The coaches arrived early at the spectacular, brand-new $32 million facility located at the optimistic address of 1 Winning Drive. They grabbed quick cups of coffee from the first-floor cafeteria and headed up to their offices to begin their day by preparing for their morning meeting. The players came later. Like the coaches, they stopped in the cafeteria, but they sat at the round tables in groups of three and four, eating lunch before gathering in the posh auditorium that served as the meeting room when the entire team was together.

But this was a Monday like no other in the nine-year history of the Baltimore Ravens. There wasn’t a soul in the organization who had thought before the season began that this would be the day when everyone said good-bye. In his first meeting with the entire team, on the morning that the veterans’ mandatory minicamp began in early June, Coach Brian Billick had made his expectations clear: “We have a two-, perhaps three-year window to win the Super Bowl,” he said. “In this room, we have the talent, the experience, and the understanding of what it takes to win to get to the Super Bowl and to win it. We can do it this year, we can do it again next year, and perhaps the year after, the way we’re structured. We’ve built to this the last two years. We’re ready for it.”

Billick had repeated that message at training camp and on the eve of the first game in Cleveland. He had clung to it throughout the fall as the team sputtered and the dream began to fade before it finally teetered like an aging Christmas tree and collapsed with a crash on the day after New Year’s. There would be no Super Bowl; there wouldn’t even be a playoff game. Instead of being one of twelve teams preparing for the National Football League playoffs, the Ravens were one of twenty teams making plans for next season.

That wasn’t just a cliché, either. When football coaches say next season begins on the last day of this season, they mean it. In fact, Billick had been meeting with team owner Steve Bisciotti, team president Dick Cass, and general manager Ozzie Newsome since early December to discuss the team’s future. By the time the coaches met at 11 A.M. that morning, two coaches—long-embattled offensive coordinator Matt Cavanaugh and defensive assistant Phil Zacharias—were gone. One office over from where the coaches sat with schedules Billick had handed them for 2005, Cavanaugh was starting to clear out his office. Two phone calls had already come in from teams interested in talking to him about a job.

For everyone involved, this was a difficult day. The hallways in the building were quiet, no one knowing quite what to say to one another. In the locker room, players went through the ritual of putting their things in boxes to carry to their cars while saying good-bye to one another. Deion Sanders, the future Hall of Fame defensive back, limped around on a foot that would need surgery for a torn tendon and paused to sign autographs for younger teammates who thought there was at least a 50-50 chance he would not be back when veteran minicamps began again in June.

It had been less than twenty-four hours since the 2004 season had ended with a too-little, too-late 30-23 win over the Miami Dolphins. The victory had left the team with a 9-7 record. Had they been part of the National Football Conference, those nine victories would have easily put them into the playoffs. But in the American Football Conference, it left them a win short of the 10-6 record required to earn a playoff spot. “Only one team finishes the season satisfied,” Billick told his players when they gathered for their final meeting before heading to their homes to begin an off-season full of questions. “But we all know we’re sitting here because some of us didn’t do our jobs as well as we could have or should have. We’re all emotionally spent because of the energy we’ve put into the last twenty-five weeks.

“That’s why I’m not here to put a lot on you right now. I appreciate the fact that a lot of you have played in a lot of pain these last few weeks. You’re tired and you’re hurt and I admire you for doing what you did. But we have to take a good, hard look at ourselves.” He held up a spiral notebook. “I’ve got about ninety pages of notes in here about things that need to be looked at and improved upon before next season starts. About five of them are for the coaches; another five are for you guys. The rest are for me.

“The simple fact, though, is this: we didn’t reach our expectations. I think we have a Super Bowl-caliber team in this room. There are any number of reasons why we’re sitting here today having this talk instead of getting ready for a playoff game. What we have to think about going forward is this: how do we get from 9-7 to being an elite team, I don’t mean a 10-6 team like last year, but a 13-3, 14-2 kind of team. That’s the kind of team we all think we can be. But we have a lot to do to finish the job. That’s our challenge for next year—finish what we began this season.”

Billick had been far more blunt when he met with his coaches that morning. The mood of the meeting had been somber, almost glum. Everyone in the room knew what had happened already to Cavanaugh and Zacharias.

“A good man is going out that door because of what we and I haven’t done,” Billick said, referring to Cavanaugh. “There are also additional changes I need to make, and we’ll talk about them starting tomorrow.” He paused. “Don’t get me wrong. This is a good room. There are good people in here. I don’t like what happened today with Matt or what we’re going to have to do. It’s what will drive me out of this business eventually.”

The coaches looked at one another. Each was scheduled to meet individually with Billick the next morning. The message was clear: others would be going out the door, too. In front of them, in addition to a schedule that told them their responsibilities from now until the first day of training camp, was the team’s roster. On the right-hand side was a list of fifteen players who would be free agents. Some would not be back. The coaches would meet on January 17 along with Newsome and his staff to talk about every single player who had played for the Ravens the previous season.

Newsome and Billick had already reached the conclusion that they had not been aggressive enough the previous season. “The question we need to ask,” Newsome said, “is, did we take the safe route last year by bringing back twenty-one of twenty-two starters? Did we allow continuity to become more important than upsetting the applecart and bringing someone else in who might be better than what we have?”

The questions were rhetorical. Newsome and Billick had won a Super Bowl together following the 2000 season and they wanted to win another one. Both now believed that they had overestimated some of their players based on what they had accomplished in 2003. “The biggest mistake I made was thinking that the experiences we had last year, winning the division and going to the playoffs, made us a more mature team than our collective age would have indicated,” Billick told his coaches. “We were still a young team this season and we didn’t handle some things that came at us very well. That’s why we have to take a hard look at ourselves and at our players. I want you guys to tell me exactly what you need at each position to get better. You want a better player, find him, tell us who he is and why he’s better than what we’ve got, and we’ll go get him. We’re in great cap shape. We’re going to attack in free agency.”

The Ravens have never been a team that makes headlines in March with big-name free-agent signings. They probably weren’t going to make any major headlines in March of 2005, either, but Billick’s message was clear: we need to get better. It didn’t take a football genius to know that the Ravens were lacking at the wide receiver spot or that the offensive line had been through a disappointing season. The defense would be reconfigured to try to make life easier for Ray Lewis, the heart and soul of not only the defense but the entire team. Hard decisions had to be made on good players who were about to become free agents and might not be worth the money they could command on the open market. There were a number of older players, men who had been solid contributors throughout distinguished careers but simply couldn’t perform at the same level anymore.

There are no guaranteed contracts in the NFL. The only money a player is guaranteed is the money in his signing bonus. From the moment that check is cashed, contracts go in one direction: the team’s. A player who signs a seven-year contract is committed to that team for seven years. Once the bonus check is paid, the team isn’t committed to the player for seven years, seven months, seven weeks, or seven days. That’s one reason why there is no job in professional team sports as insecure as that of an NFL player. Players frequently go from starting to cut in one year because a team decides he isn’t worth what he will be paid for the next season or because a team has to off-load salary because of the salary cap. Often players are asked to restructure contracts for less money. When that happens, most players are given two options: take a cut or be cut.

That was why the mood was somber when Billick met with his players that day. “We want you all back,” Billick said. “But we know that won’t happen. We all know the realities of this business. We talk about them all the time. We didn’t reach expectations, and we now have to figure out why. We have a lot of work to do before we know about who we’re going to want back. Some of you have to make decisions about whether you want to come back here.

“I have faith in the talent and the emotional makeup in this room. But this was a disappointing year. There’s no getting around that. Everything we’re going to try to do next year starts with the unfulfilled feelings we all have right now. Think about that in the off-season. Get rested. Get healthy. Come back here ready to finish the job we didn’t get done this year.”

Two weeks later, when Billick and his staff met with Newsome and his staff to go through the roster player by player and begin making decisions for the 2005 season, there were a number of missing faces. Cavanaugh had been named the offensive coordinator at the University of Pittsburgh, his alma mater. Jim Fassel, the former New York Giants coach, sat in his seat. Chris Foerster sat in what had been offensive line coach Jim Colletto’s seat. Colletto had been with Billick for six years, but Billick believed he needed to bring in a fresh face to coach an aging offensive line. Mike Nolan, the defensive coordinator, was also gone, but for happier reasons: he would be introduced the next day as the new coach of the San Francisco 49ers. Newsome’s top scout, personnel director Phil Savage, was also absent: he had become general manager of the Cleveland Browns.

As the coaches went through each player, there were some whose reports were read strictly as a courtesy to the coach who had written it. “You wrote it,” Newsome said. “We should at least listen to it.”

So they listened. In some cases the end of the report said simply: “We need to improve at this position for 2005.”

In the case of one longtime veteran, linebacker Cornell Brown, Billick said quietly, “All I can say is God bless him.”

In the NFL, that is what passes for a eulogy. Next Man Up.
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Meet the New Boss

THE YEAR 2004 HAD STARTED VERY DIFFERENTLY for the Ravens from how it ended. In fact, exactly one year to the day prior to the breakup meetings for the 2004 season, the Ravens had hosted a playoff game in a sold-out stadium. With the third-youngest roster in the National Football League, they had won the AFC’s North Division with a 10-6 record. That made them the home team for a first-round playoff game against their onetime bitter division rival, the Tennessee Titans. The game had swung back and forth all evening until a critical personal foul penalty just prior to a Ravens punt gave Tennessee field position just good enough that quarterback Steve McNair was able to maneuver his team to the Baltimore 28-yard line in the final seconds. From there, forty-four-year-old placekicker Gary Anderson converted a 46-yard field goal that barely sneaked over the crossbar to give the Titans a 20-17 victory.

The irony of Anderson’s kick wasn’t lost on Brian Billick. Five years earlier, in what had turned out to be Billick’s last game as the Minnesota Vikings’ offensive coordinator, Anderson had lined up a 37-yard kick with under two minutes remaining in the NFC Championship Game against the Atlanta Falcons. The Vikings, who had gone 15-1 during the regular season, breaking all sorts of offensive records to make Billick a hot head-coaching candidate, led, 17-10. Anderson had not missed a single field goal all season, and the 37-yarder was considered nothing more than a chip shot. In fact, Vikings coach Dennis Green had told Billick to keep the ball on the ground once the offense had driven inside the 25. A field goal would put the game out of reach, and Anderson was automatic.

Not this time. He missed the kick; the Falcons drove the length of the field for the tying score and won in overtime. They went to the Super Bowl. The Vikings went home. Two days later Billick was introduced as the new head coach of the Ravens. When Anderson’s kick cleared the crossbar, dooming the Ravens, Billick’s first comment to his coaches was concise: “Now he makes it.”

The loss to Tennessee marked the end of Art Modell’s forty-two years as owner of the franchise. Technically, Steve Bisciotti would not become the Ravens’ new owner until April 9, 2004, but in a practical sense, the transfer of power began the moment the game ended. At halftime, Modell had become the first person associated with the Ravens to be inducted into M&T Bank Stadium’s “Ring of Honor.” Even if the Ravens had won, the game would have been their last home game under Modell’s ownership. The ceremony was his farewell.

Bisciotti was new to the team only in the sense of becoming the man in charge. He had been around the franchise for four years, dating back to December 17, 1999, when he had agreed to pay Modell $275 million in exchange for 49 percent minority ownership in the franchise and the option to buy out Modell for a total price of $600 million in four years. There was never any doubt that Bisciotti would exercise the option. The only reason for the four-year delay was to give Modell and his family time to adjust to the notion of no longer running the team. Modell had purchased the Cleveland Browns in 1961 at the age of thirty-five, and the team and the National Football League had been the centerpiece of his life ever since. He had moved the team from Cleveland to Baltimore in 1996 in a franchise shift that left emotional scars on almost everyone involved. Modell believed he had no choice at the time. He had negotiated with the city of Cleveland for several years, trying to get a new stadium to replace antiquated Municipal Stadium, better known throughout the sports world as the Mistake by the Lake. When the city came up with funding for both a new baseball stadium and a new basketball/hockey arena but did not agree to build Modell a new luxury-suite-laden building, Modell began considering a move.

“There wasn’t any choice,” he said years later. “There was no way we could survive financially if we continued to play in the old stadium. And it was clear to me that the city wasn’t going to budge.”

Unlike some team owners, Modell didn’t have the money to build a new stadium for himself. In fact, he was in very poor shape financially. So when the city of Baltimore offered him a sweetheart deal that included a brand-new stadium, Modell accepted the offer. He didn’t want to sell the team. He wanted to pass it on to his family’s next generation, notably his son David, whom he had named team president. The only way to keep the team in the family was to accept Baltimore’s offer.

There was a sad irony in the fabled Cleveland Browns, one of the NFL’s signature franchises, leaving Cleveland for Baltimore. Twelve years earlier Baltimore had been the victim of a franchise shift when Colts owner Robert Irsay backed moving trucks up to the team’s facility in Owings Mills, Maryland, and moved the team, lock, stock, barrel, and team name to Indianapolis. Modell wasn’t nearly as sneaky or ruthless. He announced the move on November 6, 1995, with several weeks left in the season, forcing the Browns to finish the season as a lame-duck team in a stunned city. He also agreed to leave behind the Browns name and all the team records so that the NFL could put an expansion franchise in Cleveland if the city ever agreed to build a new stadium (which it did, bringing the new Browns into existence in 1999).

People in Baltimore were shocked by the sudden turn in their football fortunes, but many had mixed emotions about the arrival of the new team. The departure of the Colts had scarred the city’s soul because the Colts had been an emotionally important part of Baltimore. Many of the players lived in the neighborhoods around Memorial Stadium, and the team was filled with great players and great characters, none more revered than legendary quarterback Johnny Unitas. Baltimore and Cleveland are similar towns in many ways, working-class cities with now-outdated reputations as tough places with grimy downtowns. Both have been revitalized in recent years, but the character of those who live in the two cities has changed little. Each still harbors something of an inferiority complex. Losing the Colts had fed that feeling in Baltimore, and many in Baltimore, knowing how they had felt about the Colts’ departure, could not help but empathize with those now going through the same trauma in Cleveland.

One Baltimorean who felt little of that was Steve Bisciotti. A self-made billionaire who had started his own company supplying temporary engineers to aerospace and technology companies out of his basement in 1983, Bisciotti had been a lifelong Colts fan and a football fan for as long as he could remember. “I wasn’t crushed when the Colts left town because at the time they were awful,” he said. “I didn’t like it, but I also felt if the city had been willing to renovate Memorial Stadium for Irsay, he wouldn’t have left. It might have cost ten million dollars to do it, and they didn’t do it. So I didn’t hate Irsay the way some people did. When the Browns came here because Cleveland wouldn’t do anything for Art Modell, I understood. I also believed that Cleveland would get a new team as soon as it agreed to build a stadium. I didn’t think people there would go twelve years without a team the way we had.”

Bisciotti probably would have been more upset about the Colts’ departure if he hadn’t been completely immersed in building his business when the Colts left. He had grown up in Severna Park, the youngest of Bernie and Pat Bisciotti’s three children. His memories of boyhood are happy: he grew up in a close, loving family and had friends who to this day remain close to him. It is remarkable that his memories are as happy as they are, given that his father died of leukemia when Steve was eight.

“We knew he was sick because there were long stays in the hospital,” he said. “But it was one of those things where we were just told that Dad was sick, he needed to get better, and then he would come home and it would seem as if he was better. I honestly don’t think the thought that he was dying crossed my mind until the morning when he died.”

That was on a Saturday. Steve was spending the night with a friend across the street. He was surprised when his friend’s dad came in early and told him that his mom wanted him to come home. When he walked across the street and saw a strange car parked outside, he knew something was up. “Once I got inside I saw my uncle Joe, Dad’s brother,” he said. “That’s when I found out.”

Later that day after lunch, the local parish priest sat Steve and his sister, Cathy, and brother, Mike, down to read them a letter that their father had written to them shortly before he died. It was a four-page, handwritten note that was meant not only to say good-bye but to tell his children his hopes and dreams for them.

“The easiest way for me to start a letter like this is to say I love you,” it began. “You collectively have brought more joy and happiness and fulfillment to my life than I will ever express in a full lifetime of trying. You truly have given me as a parent so much more than I’ve given you. Your very existence has been a source of satisfaction that only when you become parents will you be able to understand what I’m trying to express.

“Your dad finds writing this awfully hard because there are so many things in my heart that I want to say to you, but just don’t know where or how to go about doing it.”

Bernie Bisciotti went on to talk about his love for his wife and about his deep Catholic faith. “Your mother also has her job cut out for her because now she will have to be both father and mother. By doing this she has her chance to prove to God how much she loves and understands what he planned for us. You also get a chance by carrying heavier responsibility to show God your love and understanding. . . . I will pray for you always and want you also to pray to God for guidance in growing into fine decent people. (Remember, God gives us the chance to make up your own minds as to what kind of people we are going to be.)”

Later, when he would go back and read the letter, Bisciotti starred the sentence in parentheses to remind himself of that message. His father concluded with a request and with his final wishes: “Love your mother always. She needs you so very much. Never—never—do anything to hurt her, because she truly is a wonderful God-like person and doesn’t ever deserve to feel the pain that unloving acts of her children could cause her.

“I know how good you all are—I truthfully never met children I was ever more impressed with than you. Of course I’m terribly prejudiced and filled with love for you.

“As a selfish man, I hope you will remember me with love and I hope that in some way I have been important in helping form your character and outlook on life. The love and affection you have given me is beyond my ability to describe, but somehow I’m sure you’ll find out what I mean. . . . Your Loving Dad.”

Bisciotti keeps his father’s letter in the desk he works at in his house. Thirty-seven years after it was written, he still pulls it out frequently to remind himself what his father wanted him and his siblings to become. It has clearly influenced him because, even with all the success and all the money he has made, he seems to make a point every day of reminding himself how fortunate he has been and goes out of his way to make it clear that he doesn’t think being wealthy makes him any better or smarter than anyone else.

“I was never a good student,” he said. “I got Bs and Cs and worked for them. I have a feeling if I was a kid today, I’d have been diagnosed as ADD, but back then no one did that. My mother never berated me for not doing better in school, because I think she knew I was trying. She always said to me, ‘Stephen, you’re going to do fine in life because people like you and you’re a nice person.’”

As it turned out, he was also a born salesman. He went to Salisbury State on Maryland’s Eastern Shore and helped pay for his education by working numerous jobs: pier-building in the summertime, bartending during the winter. When he graduated he went to work for a firm that supplied high-tech temporary engineers to companies, a relatively new but growing business. Less than a year into the job, he got caught on the wrong side of a power struggle between the two men who owned the company and got fired. This was in the fall of 1983. Bisciotti was engaged (he had first met Renee Foote in high school but hadn’t dated her until just after he graduated from college) and didn’t want to leave Baltimore. But he had a no-compete clause in his contract that said he couldn’t take a job in the Baltimore area with a firm that did similar work. It was his future father-in-law, a land developer, who suggested he start his own company.

“His point was that the guy couldn’t really impose a no-compete when he had fired me without cause,” Bisciotti said. “He told me to start my own company, the thought being he would take me to court and that I’d have a really good chance to win on the no-cause basis. The main reason for doing it was so I could get a job that would allow me to stay in Baltimore.”

By the time his former employer got around to taking him to court nine months later, Bisciotti had four employees and a growing business. Early on, he persuaded Jim Davis, his cousin and best friend growing up, to come into the company with him. Davis had a good job at Price Waterhouse but decided to make the jump anyway. He handled the books, Bisciotti handled the sales side: persuading high-tech companies to use them rather than competitors to find trained engineers quickly for short-term jobs that they didn’t have enough staff for.

“I think we just outworked people,” Bisciotti said. “If a company needed fifty engineers for a project, our competitors would work the phones until six o’clock, looking for guys, and then go home. We’d work until six, send out for pizza and beer, and then keep going until eleven, tracking guys down on the West Coast. If we got a potential job on a Thursday, we’d be back to the company with a list of names and résumés on Friday. Our competitors might call on Monday or Tuesday and they’d hear, ‘Sorry, we’ve already got all the people we need.’”

Bisciotti and Davis were pretty certain they would win the court case based on the no-cause firing and based on the fact that it had taken nine months for his ex-boss to file suit. Rather than take a chance, though, they offered a settlement: $11,000 cash on the spot and an agreement not to call on certain clients for a year. The deal was made. “That next year was a little bit tough because we were limited in people we could go after,” Bisciotti said. “But after that, we started to take off.”

To put it mildly. The company—Aerotek—went from sales of $10 million in 1987 to $3.4 billion in 2001. “Then the economy nose-dived and our sales went down,” Bisciotti said. “But in those fourteen years our business went up markedly every year.”

By the time business slacked off in 2001, Bisciotti was semi-retired. In 1997 he had decided to turn a lot of the business over to his partners. His sons, Jack and Jason, were ten and eight at the time, close to the same age Bisciotti had been when his father died. “I wanted that time to be with them,” he said. “I was lucky that I could make the choice at the age of thirty-seven to give up the seventy-hour weeks and spend more time at home.”

By then, Bisciotti was a Ravens season ticket holder. He had put down a $5,000 deposit on season tickets when the city was a candidate for an NFL expansion team in 1993. Those teams ended up going to Jacksonville and Charlotte. Those who had put down the deposits were asked by city officials to leave their money in escrow in the event that another team became available in the future. “I figured, what the hell, it was five thousand dollars and if we ever got a team, I’d have the jump on the best seats in the house.”

When the Browns came to Baltimore—they were christened the Ravens in honor of local Baltimore poet Edgar Allan Poe’s most famous work—Bisciotti bought twelve season tickets—four prime seats in the club area, four in the upper deck, and four in the end zone. “I figured I’d use four for myself or close friends, four for company executives, and four for employees,” he said. “The first week I took my wife and sons and spent most of the game either waiting in line for beer or soda [they were separate lines] or to take one of the boys [then nine and seven] to the bathroom. After that we decided we’d take the kids when they were a little older.”

The Ravens played two seasons in Memorial Stadium, waiting for their new stadium to be built. They also moved into the Colts’ old facility in Owings Mills, which had been used as a police academy by the city of Baltimore, and found it as antiquated and outdated as the old stadium. That problem would have to wait, though. The immediate focus was on getting into the new stadium.

The new place finally opened in September of 1998, a gorgeous, modern stadium right across the street from Camden Yards, the jewel of a baseball stadium that had opened in 1992. By then, Bisciotti was furious with Ravens management. When the time had come to select his club seats in the new stadium, he had been informed that he was being given the best available seats—on the 30-yard line.

“I blew up,” Bisciotti said. “I said, ‘Wait a minute, I put my money up in 1993 and the best I get is the thirty-yard line? They told me that the suite holders had the option to buy club seats and they got first crack. I told them that I was going to go and look at my seats and if I didn’t like them, I wanted my money back. The contract said nothing about it, but I threatened to go to the Sun. So they said, ‘Okay, we’ll let you do it that way and call it the Bisciotti Rule.’”

Bisciotti eventually decided his seats were acceptable. That same year, he had been contacted by Bank of America, which had been hired by Florida Marlins owner Wayne Huizenga to identify possible buyers for his team. Because he had been a Baltimore Orioles season ticket holder and appeared to have the kind of capital needed to buy a franchise, Bisciotti was asked if he wanted to take a look at the confidential prospectus being sent to potential buyers.

“I was intrigued,” he said. “I already had a home in South Florida and I figured as I got older I’d be spending more time there. I liked the fact that the team was in the National League because I wouldn’t have been comfortable competing on a regular basis with the Orioles. But when I read the prospectus, it turned out that John Henry had already been designated as the managing partner in any deal and was just looking for investors who wouldn’t have any real input in running the team. I wasn’t interested in that.”

A year later Bank of America came back to Bisciotti with another potential deal: the Minnesota Vikings. “I was certainly interested in the possibility of owning an NFL team,” he said. “But when I talked to Renee about it, she asked me if I intended to move to Minneapolis. The answer, of course, was no. So were we then going to fly to every game? No. The deal was good enough that I might be able to buy the team and sell it for a good profit, but that wasn’t the point of buying a team to me. I wasn’t looking for a business deal, I was looking to get involved in something that would be fun to do.”

Having let the Vikings deal go, Bisciotti settled into the role of season ticket holder. In the meantime, things were not going so well for the Ravens or the Modells. Soon after deciding to move the team, Modell had decided to shake up the team’s leadership. He had fired Coach Bill Belichick, who had also been the team’s de facto general manager since he had final say on all personnel matters. In his place, Modell named Ozzie Newsome, an all-time Browns great as a tight end, the team’s personnel director and Ted Marchibroda, who had been the last man to coach the Colts in Baltimore, the new coach.

The team began its new existence on September 1, 1996, with a victory, but things spiraled downward after that and the Ravens finished their first season 4-12. A year later they improved to 6-9-1 and began the 1998 season in the new stadium with legitimate hopes—or so Modell and Newsome believed—of making the playoffs. “Everything went wrong right from the beginning that year,” Newsome remembered. “First play of our first game in the new stadium, Matt Stover kicks the ball out of bounds. We go on and lose [to archrival Pittsburgh] and it was downhill from there.” Before season’s end, it had been decided that Marchibroda would not be asked back. Newsome and David Modell were put in charge of the search committee to find a new coach.

In the meantime, even with the infusion of money from the move to Baltimore, the Modells continued to struggle financially. There were cost overruns on the new stadium that the Modells had to help finance. The profit levels for the Ravens were not enough to make up the losses suffered in Cleveland and in some of the other investments made by the Modells. By the time the 1998 season ended, the Modells were over the NFL’s debt limit for owners. During the owners’ meetings that winter, Art Modell was politely told by his fellow owners that he needed to find new money for his team, that he could not be allowed to continue to operate over the debt limit because of the precedent it would set. Modell began searching for minority ownership.

Midway through the 1999 season, with Brian Billick now coaching the team, it was apparent that no one was going to step forward with the kind of money the Modells needed in return for nothing. “What is a minority ownership?” Bisciotti asked rhetorically. “Essentially, it is an interest-free loan to an owner in return for a suite and a parking spot. No one is going to give someone a hundred and fifty million dollars for that. The only way the Modells were going to get anyone interested was with an option to buy.”

Shortly after Thanksgiving in 1999, Bisciotti and his business partner Jim Davis were approached by John Moag, the man who had brokered the Browns/Ravens deal on behalf of the Maryland Stadium Authority. Moag had been less than happy when the Modells had hired Alex. Brown, a Baltimore-based investment firm, to try to find a minority owner. He had set out on his own looking for an investor, figuring, according to Bisciotti, that if he couldn’t get in on the Modells’ side of the deal, maybe he and his company, Legg Mason, could get involved on the other side.

Moag explained to Bisciotti and Davis that, according to his NFL sources, the Modells were running out of time. If they weren’t able to come up with financing to cover their debts by the time the NFL owners met after the season, the league might very well put the team for sale by auction. That would mean the Modells would have no control over the amount the team would be sold for, who it would be sold to, or how quickly—most likely right away—the new owners would take control. Because of all that, Moag believed the Modells might be willing to make a deal that would include an option to buy at some point in the future.

“If there’s an option, I’m interested,” Bisciotti said. “Otherwise, forget it.”

Moag asked if he could approach the Modells to set up a meeting. Bisciotti and Davis agreed. Within a week, the two men had been invited to Owings Mills for a get-to-know-you visit. They watched the end of a practice one afternoon, met Billick and Newsome, and were then introduced to Art Modell, who was sitting, as he did every day, on his golf cart, watching his team practice. When practice was over, Modell took Bisciotti and Davis upstairs to his office, introduced them to David, and then left the room.

“You have to understand,” David Modell explained to his surprised visitors. “This is very hard for him. Even being in the room discussing turning the franchise over to anyone else is difficult.”

Bisciotti and Davis said they understood. The barest parameters of a possible sale were discussed. David Modell explained that if an option to buy was to be included in the deal, then the up-front money had to be more than the $150 million that Moag had talked about. Something close to double that was what they were looking for. A meeting was set up for Friday, December 17, to try to hammer out an agreement.

“This was really moving fast,” Bisciotti said. “When David started talking about three hundred million dollars, I had to get Bank of America moving fast to figure out if I could come up with that kind of liquidity and to put everything in place before the meeting. John Moag wasn’t happy because he thought he should be doing all that. I made him part of the negotiation but told him I needed Bank of America. He wasn’t happy. I told Bank of America he had to be in the deal because he had brought it to us. They weren’t happy. So, by the time we got to the meeting, the guys negotiating for me were already unhappy.”

On Bank of America’s recommendation, Bisciotti had hired Dick Cass to head his negotiation team—even though Cass’s work for and friendship with Cowboys maverick owner Jerry Jones made him nervous.

When Bisciotti walked into the meeting on the morning of December 17 at the downtown law offices of Hogan & Hartson, the first thing he did was tell everyone in the room that this would be a one-day negotiation, that he was prepared to stay as late as necessary, but that if there was no deal by day’s end, there would be no deal. “I had made a point of staying under the radar my entire adult life,” he said. “If I was going to become a public figure, it was going to be for a deal I made, not for one that didn’t get made. I knew if we dragged on, eventually the negotiation would leak and I’d be in the papers, working on a deal that might not happen. Was there a little bit of negotiating ploy there? Probably. Because if they’d come back two weeks later and said, ‘Okay, we acquiesce, we’ll give you what you asked for or close to it,’ I’m not gonna tell you I’d have said no. But my basic approach going in was it was today or never.”

By the time the two sides broke for a late lunch, Bisciotti was convinced there would be no deal. The Modells had started at $700 million for the team, with the option kicking in after five years. Bisciotti wanted to pay $500 million and have an option to buy after three years. By midafternoon, they had closed the gap from $200 million to about $100 million but had made no progress on the option or on other crucial terms—like how much interest the Modells would pay on the money Bisciotti would be, in effect, loaning them prior to the option. Bisciotti went home briefly, told Renee he didn’t think there was going to be a deal and suggested she have the limousine they had hired for the evening pick her up shortly before six o’clock and then come get him at the law office so they could go to Washington to meet ten other couples for their annual pre-Christmas dinner.

Shortly before six, he called Renee back and told her to delay the limo driver for a while. A deal might get done.

“We were willing to go to six hundred million, and my sense was so were they,” he said. “But we were far apart on the terms, so far there really didn’t seem room for compromise. I finally said to my guys, ‘I want to talk to Art alone.’ They thought that was a bad idea, but I said, ‘What have we got to lose? Right now, the way we’re going, this isn’t going to happen.’ They agreed. When the two groups were back in the room together, Bisciotti asked to speak to Modell one-on-one. Modell agreed. They went down the hall to a small conference room. It was the first time they had been alone.

“I remember when we started talking I instantly liked him,” Bisciotti said. “There was a warmth to him. He wasn’t hardballing; this was difficult for him. He told me there was no way his people would let him make the deal for less than six hundred million dollars. I said I understood, but if we were going to six hundred million, it had to be our terms—interest rate, three-year option, things like that. I suggested he go back and tell his group that and we agree that in the next fifteen minutes we either have a deal or walk away. We shook hands on it. Fifteen minutes later they came back in and said if we would compromise at four years on the option, we had a deal.”

Two hours later, with the lawyers still hammering out details, Bisciotti slid into the limo next to Renee and whispered, as much in shock as in glee, “We got it. We got the Ravens.”

The final deal was actually for $580 million, plus a commitment by Bisciotti to spend at least $20 million on a desperately needed new practice facility.

Twenty-four hours after the paperwork was signed, Keith Mills, the weekend sports anchor at Channel 2 in Baltimore, broke the story that the new owner of the Ravens would be Steve Bisciotti, a thirty-nine-year-old local businessman. Very few people knew who Bisciotti was, except perhaps those who regularly attended University of Maryland basketball games and couldn’t help but notice the casually dressed guy with the slicked-back brown hair who sat in the front row at midcourt and kept up a running commentary on the work being done by the officials. That was intentional. Once he became wealthy, Bisciotti had no desire to become famous. Now, though, he would have little choice. He was about to become a member of one of the world’s most exclusive clubs: NFL owner.

“I did a couple of interviews on the weekend of the sale,” he said. “Ron Shapiro [a prominent Baltimore lawyer who represented, among others, Cal Ripken Jr.] told me I should get it over with, let a photographer take some pictures of me [none though of his family], and that would keep them from stalking me. So I did that. Once that was over, though, I was determined to go underground for the next four years. It was still Art’s team and I didn’t want anyone to think different for a minute until it was time for me to take over.”

Now that time had come. While the public still didn’t know much about Bisciotti, those who worked in the Ravens complex felt as if they did. He was the friendly guy with the wide smile who insisted on being called Steve. He came to know everyone in the building by name, sat in on the draft and other meetings, but offered input only when asked and didn’t even ask for office space. If he needed to talk to someone, he went to that person’s office.

“I was learning,” he said. “Let’s face it, what I knew about an NFL team was no more, no less than any other fan. I had opinions, but they certainly weren’t based on expertise. I wanted to come in and be someone who could help the people running the team, not be a burden to them.”

The Ravens’ fortunes changed radically during 2000, Bisciotti’s first year as a minority owner. After finishing 8-8 in their first season under Billick, they upgraded their defense radically during the off-season—notably with the predraft signing of free-agent defensive tackle Sam Adams—and emerged as a defensive powerhouse. They improved the offense by adding future Hall of Fame tight end Shannon Sharpe. After a 12-4 regular season, they swept through the playoffs, winning road games at Tennessee and Oakland to reach the Super Bowl before routing the New York Giants, 34-7, to win their first championship. They became known as a swaggering, cocky team, that attitude personified by Billick and by Ray Lewis, the brilliant linebacker who had been involved in a bizarre stabbing incident a year earlier during the Super Bowl in Atlanta that had landed him in jail, accused of a double murder. The murder charge was eventually dropped and Lewis pleaded guilty to an obstruction-of-justice charge, based on his initial conversations with police on the night of the murders. When Billick began Super Bowl week by lecturing the media to leave Lewis alone and not ask questions about what had happened in Atlanta, he made himself the media’s target for the week.

Which was exactly what he wanted. The Ravens won the game easily and earned the enmity of most of America in the process. They didn’t much care in Baltimore. The championship was the city’s first in any sport since the Orioles won the World Series in 1983 and first in football since the Colts had beaten the Cowboys in 1971 in Super Bowl V.

The Ravens returned to the playoffs a year later, winning a game before losing to the Pittsburgh Steelers. Then, like many NFL teams, they were forced to purge a number of veteran players because of the salary cap and they began the 2002 season almost back at square one again. “We had some great players on the team,” Billick said. “We still had Ray, we still had [All-Pro left tackle] Jonathan Ogden, and some other very solid guys. But not many. When I looked at the roster that spring, I couldn’t have told you twenty guys who would be on the team for sure. I remember thinking, ‘Please, God, don’t let me be the first coach to win a Super Bowl and then go 0-16 two years later.’”

The Ravens did considerably better than that. Even though Ray Lewis suffered a season-ending back injury in the fifth week of the season, they were 7-7 with two weeks to play and still in contention for a playoff berth. Those hopes ended when the new Browns—then in their fourth season—drove the length of the field in the final two minutes to pull out a 14-13 victory in Baltimore. That victory helped the Browns make the playoffs. The Ravens lost their finale, 34-31, at Pittsburgh and finished 7-9.

In all, though, it had been an encouraging season, considering that the Ravens were the youngest team in NFL history. Newsome and Billick and their scouts believed they needed to strengthen the quarterback position, an Achilles’ heel throughout Billick’s regime, in order to make a playoff run. After some major draft-day maneuvering, they traded their number one pick in 2004 to New England for the Patriots’ pick—the nineteenth in the draft—and used it on Kyle Boller, a strong-armed kid from the University of California-Berkeley who had blossomed as a senior under a new coach. Most people, the Ravens included, figured the team would at least begin the season with Chris Redman, a four-year veteran from Louisville, at quarterback to allow Boller to learn from the bench before being thrown into the fire.

It didn’t work out that way. Billick decided during training camp that Boller had progressed so quickly that it was pointless to let Redman start the season, and named him his starter, almost unheard-of in the modern NFL. Boller and the Ravens took a licking on opening day in Pittsburgh, but with running back Jamal Lewis putting up record numbers, they took a 5-3 record into St. Louis. Late in the first half, Boller took a hard shot in the thigh, damaging his right quadriceps muscle.

After Redman played a miserable second half in Boller’s place that day, Billick made another radical decision, deciding to hand the quarterback job to third-stringer Anthony Wright in Boller’s absence. It was a difficult decision because he liked Redman but was convinced that Wright was more capable of getting the team to the playoffs. He was correct. Wright led a miraculous fourth-quarter comeback from 17 points down against Seattle, and the Ravens ended up 10-6, winning the AFC North Division by two games over the Cincinnati Bengals and four over the Steelers, who stumbled to a surprising 6-10 finish.

Even after the loss to Tennessee, the sense was that 2003 had been just a beginning. The Ravens were still the third-youngest team in football and would bring back almost all of their starters—including a healthy Boller, whom Billick named as his starter the day after the season ended to make sure there would be no Boller-Wright controversy during the off-season or in training camp. The team would also search for a big-play wide receiver to help balance the offense, which had become almost entirely dependent on Lewis’s running during 2003.

Before the playoffs began, Bisciotti, Newsome, and Billick made plans to get together the week after the season ended—whenever it ended—to begin making plans for the future. They all knew that there would be a lot of general talk about how they would proceed with Bisciotti now the boss, as opposed to Art and David Modell. But they also knew there were a number of specific issues that needed to be addressed—most notably, the offense, with an emphasis on the future of one man: offensive coordinator Matt Cavanaugh.

“I’ll see you Thursday,” Bisciotti said to Billick after the Tennessee game ended the 2003 season. He would be flying to Florida to unwind for a few days.

“Looking forward to it,” Billick said, meaning it.

He knew Bisciotti was going to want to talk about Cavanaugh. That was fine with him.

Bisciotti was still in Florida when someone in his office faxed him a story written by Mike Preston in the Baltimore Sun two days after the Tennessee loss. Preston is the most outspoken member of the Baltimore media when it comes to the Ravens. A former beat writer turned columnist, he can be sharply critical of Billick and the team. Billick is very good at disarming the media. Those who know him well understand his sometimes prickly sense of humor and know that the best way to deal with his occasional antimedia tirades is to go right back at him. Those who don’t know him frequently find him intimidating or annoying.

Preston knows Billick and is willing to trade barbs with him, both in print and in person. Billick has no problem with that even though he is often angered by what Preston writes. Now Preston was campaigning for Cavanaugh’s firing, saying that Bisciotti’s first act as owner should be to insist that Billick fire the offensive coordinator. When Preston asked Billick if he expected to address the issue with Bisciotti, Billick’s answer was direct: “There is no issue. Matt’s the coordinator. End of discussion.”

When Bisciotti read Billick’s comments to Preston, he blew up. “I do have a temper,” he said. “I’ve always been aware of the fact that there are times when I need to rein it in because I’ll say things I don’t want to say when I’m angry. But when I read this I was really angry. Brian knew that Matt was one of the issues I wanted to discuss with him when we sat down. When he makes that comment, it comes across to me as ‘I don’t want or need input from anyone, and anyone who doesn’t agree with my position doesn’t know what he’s talking about.’ By the time we sat down on Thursday, I was still hot.”

Billick and Newsome arrived at Bisciotti’s house, which looks down on the Severn River, prepared for a long day of discussions about personnel—both on and off the field. They already knew that Dick Cass, the Washington lawyer who had worked on Bisciotti’s purchase of the team and had also worked on the sale of the Washington Redskins from the Jack Kent Cooke estate to Dan Snyder, was going to replace David Modell as team president. As part of the deal, Modell would remain on the payroll for another year at a salary of $1 million as a consultant. Beyond that, they had no idea what changes—if any—Bisciotti was contemplating.

Bisciotti wasn’t planning any major changes. He didn’t see any reason to tinker with success. The Ravens had been in the playoffs three years out of four, had won a Super Bowl, and gone through a salary purge, coming out on the other end as a playoff team two seasons later. He was very happy with the direction of the team. But he was angry at his coach.

When he confronted Billick on the Cavanaugh issue, Billick was repentant about his comments to Preston but not about his belief that Cavanaugh should remain on the job. “I told him that Mike had backed me into a corner,” Billick said later. “I wasn’t going to sound as if I was on the fence on the issue, because I wasn’t. If I had said, ‘That’s something Ozzie and I will discuss with Steve,’ it would have sounded as if I was hedging publicly on Matt. I didn’t want to do that. But my intent was not to make it sound as if I didn’t want to hear what Steve had to say.”

That explanation softened Bisciotti . . . a little. “I had decided this was the time to kind of lay everything out for Brian, not just on Cavanaugh. I didn’t want him to think for a second that he wasn’t the guy I wanted to be my coach for the next ten years, because he absolutely was. But there were some issues that related to the way he dealt with people that I wanted to get out in the open right away, and the Cavanaugh thing crystallized them for me in many ways.”

When Bisciotti talks, on almost any issue, he does so with great passion. His voice is almost always scratchy because he speaks so rapidly and so intently once he gets on a roll. When he is upset about something, the words come tumbling out and can take people by surprise because most of the time he is a hail-fellow-well-met. Now there was no sign of the outgoing, gregarious guy who had been hanging around the Owings Mills facility for the past four years.

“You have some bad habits,” he said to Billick. “For example, you always address me as ‘young man’ when you see me, and my wife as ‘young lady.’ First of all, I’m five years younger than you, I’m not some kid and neither is my wife. Second, I’m about to become the owner of this team—your boss—and you greet me the same way you greet some kid coming up to you for an autograph. That’s disrespectful.”

Billick was rocked. Who had kidnapped the smiling, friendly guy in the blue jeans and replaced him with this suddenly in-your-face new boss? “I don’t mean it as a sign of disrespect,” he said. “It’s just a habit.”

“I know you don’t,” Bisciotti said. “Because you aren’t really that way. But that’s the way it comes across. It’s a bad habit.”

He wasn’t finished. “Another thing you do is you don’t show our scouts enough respect. To begin with, you’re always getting right up in their face when you talk to them. You’re six foot five, most of them are about five-eight. That’s uncomfortable and intimidating. One of the first things I teach my salesmen is to give someone they’re talking to a full arm’s length of room, especially if you’re taller than the other guy. Do not ever look straight down at someone. It’s not fair. And you need to make a point of telling them how much you respect the work they do because they work thousands of hours trying to get you the best players they can and then you act as if they don’t even exist half the time you’re with them. Half the time when [personnel director] Phil Savage is trying to talk, you don’t let him finish a sentence.”

Now it was Billick’s turn to be angry. He didn’t think Bisciotti understood the natural—and healthy—scrimmaging that went on between the personnel and coaching staffs. He was, in fact, proud of the fact that he and Newsome could often disagree without ever getting personal about it. The same went for the two staffs. “I’ve always liked the fact that we can sit in a room, really go at it, motherfuck one another at times, and then come out of it understanding we all want the same thing. I didn’t think Steve understood that was the way the building worked, in some ways it was what made the building work.”

Billick also believed that Bisciotti tended to have warmer feelings for Newsome and the personnel people than for him and his coaches. “It was only natural,” he said. “When Steve came to practice, the coaches were working, Ozzie and the scouts were watching. So he spent more time with them. It was understandable that he would see their point of view more than ours.”

When Billick made that point, Bisciotti didn’t disagree. The meeting filled the entire afternoon. They hadn’t even really gotten to the Cavanaugh issue. The next morning Billick called Bisciotti. He wanted him to know he understood where he was coming from but sensed the new boss still had more to talk about. Bisciotti agreed. They decided to meet on Saturday morning at the facility, knowing it would be virtually empty since the staff was away on brief postseason vacations. When the two men arrived the next morning, Billick couldn’t find a key to his office—usually the offices in the building were left unlocked—so the two men ended up sitting down in Cavanaugh’s office (which wasn’t locked) to discuss Cavanaugh.

By his own admission, Bisciotti was looking at the offense from a fan’s point of view. The passing game was pathetic—last in the league—and had never been good in the six years Billick had been the coach and Cavanaugh the coordinator. “Sometimes you just have to make hard decisions, that’s what you get paid for,” Bisciotti told Billick.

“Steve, don’t you see, the easy decision for me would be to fire Matt,” Billick shot back. “I’d make you happy, I’d make the media happy, I’d make the fans happy. It’s almost like a magic trick. Fire one guy, make thousands, including your boss, happy. But it wouldn’t be right or fair. The reasons for our failures on offense go beyond Matt. For one thing, I’m the one who decides what our offensive strengths are. This year it was the run, so we ran the ball and we ran it very well. For another, we had a rookie quarterback for half the season and an ex-third stringer for the second half. For another, we’re not real strong at wide receiver. Firing Matt would be easy, not hard. But it wouldn’t be right.”

Bisciotti is, if nothing else, a good listener. He can be tough, as Billick had learned, but he’s also fair. They continued talking until Bisciotti had to leave to go to a basketball game one of his sons was playing in. They agreed to meet one more time, the next day back at Bisciotti’s house. “I was feeling better about things by then,” Bisciotti said. “And I was pretty close to convinced Brian was right about Cavanaugh. But I’m not sure Brian was feeling better. That’s why we needed to meet again.”

Bisciotti was right about Billick. The two meetings had shaken him. The last thing he had expected was an owner who got right in his face when he disagreed with him. “It occurred to me that Steve reminded me of somebody,” he said. “Me. He came right at you, told you what he thought, and if you didn’t like it, tough. I certainly respected that; I’d be a hypocrite if I didn’t. But it unnerved me. I honestly wondered if the two of us were going to be able to work together.”

Bisciotti had no such qualms. He knew he had shaken Billick up, and that was okay. But he also knew that, one way or the other, he was going to make Billick understand that even if they disagreed at times, they could work together and that he was going to do everything he could to provide Billick with what he needed to win another Super Bowl. “As a boss, if someone’s good at what they do, you might shake them up every now and then to try to make them better, but you make it clear to them that you support them and want them to be there.”

Uncertain what to do next, Billick called his old boss and mentor Denny Green. “Don’t bother trying to change,” Green told Billick. “For one thing, you can’t do it. For another, if you win, that’s the ultimate answer. If you don’t win, you can do everything the guy wants you to do and you’re going to get fired anyway.”

In short: Just win, baby.

The Sunday meeting was the most relaxed of the three. Bisciotti felt he had made the points he needed to make to Billick, and Billick was relieved and pleased that Bisciotti had come around to his way of thinking on Cavanaugh. Even though Billick’s contract specifically said that he had complete control over the hiring and firing of coaches, the last thing he wanted was to begin the new owner’s regime with a confrontation. Bisciotti told Billick that he had won him over on the subject of Cavanaugh and that he planned to tell Cavanaugh just that when he returned from vacation.

The two men shook hands at the door. Bisciotti told Billick he felt a lot better than he had three days earlier. Billick said he felt better, too.

They both meant what they said. Or, at the very least, they hoped they did.
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Ozzie Transcends Us All

WHILE BRIAN BILLICK WAS HAVING A DIFFICULT FIRST WEEK dealing with his new boss, Ozzie Newsome had no such problems. Bisciotti had asked only one thing of him during the transfer of power: “If you’re going to do something that will make news, let me know before you do it so I don’t hear about it from one of my friends.”

An NFL general manager could hardly ask for greater carte blanche from an owner. That was pretty much the way it was for Newsome in the Ravens’ organization. Years earlier Kevin Byrne, the team’s vice president for public relations, had half-jokingly said, “Ozzie transcends us all.” Billick repeated the line so often that newcomers thought it was his. What Byrne meant and others understood was that no one who worked for the Ravens questioned Newsome. Not the old owner, who viewed him as an adopted son; not the new owner, who respected and trusted him completely; not the head coach, who was almost awed by his lack of ego; and not anyone else who worked in the building.

Much of that respect centered on Newsome having been part of the organization for his entire adult life: He had been drafted by the Cleveland Browns in 1978 as a first-round pick out of the University of Alabama. He had played for the team for thirteen years and had retired having caught more passes (662) than any tight end in NFL history. He was a beloved figure in Cleveland, and Art Modell asked him to stay on as a scout, an assistant coach, or both—whatever he wanted. He eventually chose scouting, and when the team moved to Baltimore and Modell fired Bill Belichick, Newsome was put in charge of personnel decisions.

If there was any doubt about his ability to run a team, it was put to rest only a couple of months after he had taken over, during his first draft. Almost everyone in football was convinced that the Ravens, with the fourth pick, were going to take the supremely talented but supremely troubled Lawrence Phillips, the controversial running back from Nebraska. Modell thought Phillips was worth the risk and told Newsome so. Newsome and his scouts thought Jonathan Ogden, the mammoth left tackle from UCLA, was a better player who came with less risk. Over Modell’s objections, he took Ogden.

“Looking back on it, the reason I’m still here today is because I took Ogden and not Phillips with that pick,” he said, laughing. “I knew what Mr. Modell wanted but I also knew what I thought was the best thing for us to do. I figured if I was going to fail, I was going to fail doing what I thought was right.”

Later in the first round Newsome, with a pick the team had acquired the year before from San Francisco, took Ray Lewis, a ferocious linebacker out of Miami, considered too small by a lot of scouts and too much of a troublemaker by some others. Three linebackers—Kevin Hardy, John Mobley, and Reggie Brown—had already been selected before Newsome took Lewis with the twenty-sixth pick of the first round.

Nine years later Ogden and Lewis are the centerpieces of the Ravens and lock Hall of Famers when their careers are over. One draft, two Hall of Famers. A pretty good start for anyone. In 1999 Newsome was elected to the Pro Football Hall of Fame. A year later the Ravens won the Super Bowl. In 2002 Modell made official what had been fact for six years and named Newsome general manager. That made Newsome the first African American to hold that title with an NFL team.

“To be honest, I didn’t think much about it at the time, because I’d been doing the job for six years,” he said. “So, while it was nice to have the title, it didn’t change my life on a day-to-day basis at all. But then I was on a radio show with [former Georgetown basketball coach] John Thompson and he said to me, ‘What’s important about this is that African American kids can now look at you and say, “Why can’t I be an NFL general manager, too?”’ That was when it seemed like a big deal to me.”

What makes Newsome transcendent is that very few things are a big deal to him. He grew up in Alabama, born in the town of Muscle Shoals, which is part of a quadrangle of four midsize towns in the northwestern corner of the state. His father, Ozzie Sr., was an entrepreneur. He operated restaurants and a cab company and sold bootleg alcohol at different times during his life. His mother, Ethel Mae, worked on occasion to make sure her five children (Ozzie was the third) had whatever they wanted, but she spent the majority of her time making sure the children stayed on the straight and narrow—did well in school, made it to church every Sunday—at the very least.

“If the sun was up and something was going on at church, we were there,” Newsome said. “Most Sundays, we showed up at nine in the morning and didn’t get out until midafternoon. Every Sunday it was shoutin’ and praisin’ and preachin’ and prayin’ and we held hands and then we prayed some more. The church was an important part of life for blacks in the South because it was one place we could go where we felt we had some control of our lives. The sanctuary in the church was ours, no one else’s. There was still a good deal of segregation when I was young, and then when integration did start, there was a lot of tension. But in our church [Cave Springs Missionary Baptist Church] there was no tension. It made you feel grounded in life no matter what else was going on. It wasn’t just about religion or about God, it was about learning discipline and how to conduct yourself and do the right things.”

It was natural for Newsome to be drawn to sports. His grandfather was a huge fan of the Atlanta Braves, who moved to the South when Newsome was ten. His dad had been a renowned catcher as a semi-pro player in the Negro Leagues. “My dad was five-six and probably weighed about two-ninety,” Newsome said. “He was a big man. When I was a kid, people always told me about how he could throw runners out from the sitting position. He never stood up, just whipped the ball from the sitting position and threw people out.”

At the age of ten, Newsome was presented with an unusual opportunity by his mother. Segregation was slowly going away in the South. Newsome can still remember going as a young boy to Sheffield, the largest town in the area, and seeing separate entrances for whites and “coloreds,” separate drinking fountains and bathrooms, too. Now, with schools becoming integrated, Ethel Mae Newsome asked her son if he wanted to go to the same school he had been attending, which was more than 90 percent black, or go to sixth grade down the road at a school that was 90 percent white.

“I was always a reader,” Newsome said. “I would read anything I could get my hands on, especially if it was about sports. I had read in the local newspapers about how the white school had better facilities, better equipment, better classrooms, all of that. I told my mom I wanted to go to school there and see how I did.”

Predictably, the first year wasn’t easy. Newsome and the handful of black students entering the school understood that their presence was resented by some. Plus there were all the normal headaches of being a new kid. “First day on the schoolyard we chose up sides for baseball,” he said. “I was the last guy picked because no one knew me. First time I came up I was going to show them, I was going to hit the ball farther than anyone had ever hit a ball. I struck out.”

Things soon got better. Newsome was a good athlete and a good student. In eighth grade he played organized football for the first time and became a wide receiver on the first day of practice because he arrived late, and as he was running to get onto the field, the first group of players he came to were the receivers. His ascension was rapid. By his junior year, he was being recruited by all the major football powers. By then, he had grown to six foot two and 175 pounds, with soft hands and excellent speed. And he was one of the better students at Colbert County High School.

“For a long time my mom wanted me to go to Vanderbilt,” he said. “Academics. Bill Parcells was on the staff at the time and he was recruiting me hard. But I’d played basketball with Leon Douglas. He was a year ahead of me and he went to Alabama. He kept talking to me about how it was important for an Alabama boy to stay in Alabama. In the end, it came down to Auburn and Alabama, and both my mom and I were pretty much convinced I should go to Auburn. I had teammates there, including my quarterback, and it just seemed right. So, the day before the signing date, I committed to Auburn.”

A day later he signed with Alabama. The reason, according to Newsome, was John Mitchell, who had been the first African American to play at Alabama under Bear Bryant. “He came up the day before the signing date and I told him I’d decided to go to Auburn. He asked if he could take me to dinner. In those days [1974] there were no rules about what alumni could and could not do. I said okay. During dinner, he convinced me. He just said Alabama was the place and that Coach Bryant was completely color-blind. He won me over. So I went home and told my mom I’d decided to go to Alabama.

“She was furious. She started screaming at John that her son was going to Auburn, that the decision had been made. I said to her, ‘Mama, the Lord told me I should go to Alabama.’ Then she really got mad. She said, ‘Don’t you start putting the Lord into this!’ She ordered John to get out of her house. John pulled me aside and said, ‘Ozzie, I’ve got to stay here tonight because Coach Bryant told me not to come back without you.’ Somehow I got my mother to let him stay the night, and the next day I went and hid out from all the other recruiters and signed with Alabama.”

Newsome thrived at Alabama from the start. Perhaps because he had been in predominantly white schools since the sixth grade, the lack of black faces didn’t bother him. He couldn’t help but notice that each recruiting class had an even number of blacks in it —“Roommates,” he said. “They weren’t quite ready to mix blacks and whites in the same room yet.” But as a football player, he never felt any serious prejudice. “At Alabama, if you played football, you were on a pedestal, regardless of color,” he said. “And Coach Bryant, he really didn’t care about color. He just cared about making everyone better, whatever it took.”

Newsome became a starter by the end of his freshman season and began his senior year as a highly touted pro prospect. By then, he was a Big Man on Campus and, apparently, acting like it. “Coach Bryant called me into his office before the season started and said, ‘Ozzie, I’m getting that senior strut vibe from you as if you think you’re bigger than the program. I don’t like the way you’re acting. I think I’m gonna call your mama and tell her how you’re acting.’

“Now, by then, my mom was the biggest Alabama fan on earth. She had learned that if your son played football at Alabama, everyone knew about it and it was a really big deal. She adored Coach Bryant. If he told her I was misbehaving, I’d be in big trouble. So I said, ‘Please, Coach, don’t call my mom, I’ll be okay.’”

He graduated —“I did enough to get by and that was about it”— with a degree in recreation administration the following spring and was drafted by the Browns with the twenty-third pick. To this day, Newsome tries as hard as he can to be straight with potential draft picks about what his team’s interest or non-interest is, because he remembers his own draft day so vividly.

“It was torture,” he said. “In those days there was no combine [the annual NFL meat market held in Indianapolis that most draft hopefuls attend], and teams only came to work you out if they were really interested. The Packers came down and they worked me out for two hours. I was exhausted. Then the Browns came down and I said, no way am I going through that again. They were there to see [close friend, running back] Johnny Davis, too, and they had him call me and ask me to come over just for ten minutes. The guy who came was Rich Kotite [who later coached the Eagles and Jets] and he just tossed a few balls to me and that was it. I found out later he really just wanted to look me over, specifically, he wanted to get a look at my butt to see if I had the potential to get bigger than two-twenty.”

On draft day—the draft wasn’t on TV in those days—Newsome sat by the phone. Word came that the Packers had taken wide receiver James Lofton with the sixth pick. Then, at number twelve, the Browns took Clay Matthews. “I’m not happy, but I’m not panicked because Cleveland had another pick. But then they traded the pick to Minnesota. Now I’m really getting bummed. Who’s going to take me? Anyone? A little while later the phone rings and a voice says, ‘Ozzie, this is Art Modell, are you ready to become a Cleveland Brown?’ They had traded with someone to get the twenty-third pick. I went from frustrated and worried to overjoyed in about a minute.”

Newsome got a $75,000 signing bonus from the Browns and a three-year contract that paid him $50,000, $57,500, and $65,000. He also got a shock when Coach Sam Rutigliano told him at the end of the first mini-camp that he was being moved to tight end. “I’d never played anything but wide receiver my entire life,” he said. “But Sam said not to worry, I’d still catch plenty of balls.”

The first time he touched the ball in a real NFL game, Newsome ran 40 yards for a touchdown on an end-around play against the San Francisco 49ers. He was so excited, scoring right in front of Cleveland’s infamous “Dog Pound” that he spiked the ball. Then he thought about what Bryant always told his players: “When you get in the end zone, act as if you’ve been there before.” Or when a player really hotdogged he might say, “If you want to be in the circus, there’s one you can join down the street. We’re here to play football.”

Concerned that Bryant would see a replay of the spike, he called several friends back home and told them if Bryant did happen to see it, to tell him it was an accident, a heat-of-the-moment thing. He never heard from Bryant all season. “Then when I went home at the end of the year, I went to see him,” he said. “First thing he said was ‘I saw you spike that ball.’ I told him that I forgot myself because I was so excited. He just nodded and said, ‘You didn’t do it again, did you?’ I said, ‘No, sir.’ He said, ‘You ever going to do it again?’ I said, ‘No, sir.’ He just nodded and smiled and moved to another topic.”

The only blemish in an otherwise sterling career was the Browns’ inability to get to the Super Bowl. The Browns were good during most of Newsome’s thirteen-year career—they made the playoffs seven times—but always found a way to come up just short of the ultimate game. In 1980, playing at home against the Oakland Raiders, the Browns trailed, 14-12, when they drove to the Raiders 13-yard line in the final minute. A field goal would win the game, but with the wind swirling inside the Mistake by the Lake and Don Cockroft having already missed two field goals at that end of the stadium, Sam Rutigliano decided to try for the end zone once more, giving quarterback Brian Sipe orders to “throw it in Lake Erie” if someone wasn’t wide-open. Newsome was wide-open—or so Sipe thought. At the last possible second, cornerback Mike Davis jumped in front of Newsome and intercepted the ball. The Raiders went on to win the Super Bowl.

In 1985 the Browns led the Miami Dolphins, 21-3, in the third quarter in the opening round of the playoffs—and lost. If they had won, they would have hosted the AFC Championship Game the next week. A year later they did host the AFC Championship Game, against the Denver Broncos. That game produced the famous (or, in Cleveland, infamous) John Elway-led 98-yard march to tie the score with 37 seconds left that became known simply as “the Drive.” A year later it was “the Fumble,” Earnest Byner fumbling on the goal line in Denver when he was about to tie the game late in the fourth quarter. Again, the Broncos went to the Super Bowl. They went again in 1989, this time beating the Browns soundly in their third championship game matchup in four years.

“There was the Drive, the Fumble, and the Rout,” Newsome said, remembering all three games. “The one that hurt the most was the Drive. Usually, when the defense was on the field, I didn’t watch. I’d sit on the bench and rest. But in that game, we’re less than two minutes from the Super Bowl, I’m watching. They have a third-and-seventeen. They make it. Then they score. Even in the overtime, we got the ball first and didn’t do anything with it. I can still remember at the start of the Drive, thinking, ‘I’m finally going to a Super Bowl,’ because I’d always said I wasn’t going until I played in one.”

Following the Rout in 1989, Newsome flew home with the team, walked into his house, and could tell by the look on his wife Gloria’s face that something was wrong that had nothing to do with the game. “Your dad died a couple of hours after the game,” she told him. It wasn’t a shock—Ozzie Newsome Sr. had liver and kidney problems and was extremely overweight, but it was still a shock because it was his dad. “Last time we talked had been Friday,” he said. “Dad said to me, ‘Ozzie, you’ve got to do something about that Elway.’ I told him not to worry, that we had a plan for him this time. He was skeptical. I think the last thing he ever said to me was ‘Watch out for Elway.’”

Newsome thought he was ready to quit at that point. He’d played twelve years and his body had taken a pounding and he sensed that the team’s time as a Super Bowl contender had come and gone. But Modell persuaded him to come back. “If we sign [cornerback] Raymond Clayborne and you come back, I think we can make another run at it,” he said.

Newsome came back. The last game was in Cincinnati. By then, Coach Bud Carson had pretty much told Newsome he could put himself in the game or take himself out as he saw fit. In the second half, even with teammates encouraging him to go back in to catch a few more balls, he stayed on the sideline. “I knew it was time,” he said. “I called my mother and said, ‘The fire’s out. I’m done.’”

Newsome and Modell had always had an unspoken understanding that he would stay with the team when he retired. They had become close through the years to the point where, during the 1987 strike, Modell had called Newsome personally when the strike was about to end, and pleaded with him to come in and play in the final scab game against Cincinnati because he believed the game was critical to the Browns’ playoff chances. Newsome—and many other stars—came back that weekend. The Browns won and made the playoffs, but the locker room was split because some players had crossed the picket line, others had not.

The plan was for Newsome to learn scouting. But Bill Belichick, the newly hired head coach, wanted him to work on the field, too. Newsome eventually became a hybrid—part coach, part scout—working on the field during the season, scouting during the off-season. “At one point I think I had the longest title in the history of the NFL,” he said. “I was the ‘head coach offense/pro personnel director,’” he said. “By then, I think I knew I wanted to be on the personnel side, but Bill kept pushing me to keep coaching.”

Newsome was learning as he went. He still remembers vividly the Sunday night in 1993 when Belichick decided to cut quarterback Bernie Kosar, who had been just about as popular in Cleveland as Newsome. “I came in Monday morning and it was done,” he said. “It was a mistake. It happened because people were angry and frustrated. The lesson I learned from that was never make a decision, a big decision, right after a game. Look at the tape, calm down, and then if you think it is time to make a move, make it. But never while you’re still emotionally wound up from the battle.”

Newsome was among a small handful of people to whom Modell revealed his moving plans early in the 1995 season. He was stunned. Cleveland had become his home; he knew everyone in town and they knew him. Modell wanted to be sure Ozzie would go with him to Baltimore, and Newsome agreed to go. Soon after the move, Belichick was fired and Marchibroda was hired in his place. Mike Lombardi, the vice president in charge of football personnel, was also let go. It was Jim Bailey, the team’s executive vice president on the business side, who recommended to Modell that he put Newsome in charge of personnel. In one of his first conversations with Marchibroda, the two of them agreed that if they ever had a disagreement they couldn’t resolve, they would go to Modell to discuss it together. It is a policy Newsome has continued to this day in his relationship with Billick and Bisciotti. “The best thing about my relationship with Brian,” Newsome said, “is that it never comes to that. We always figure something out between ourselves.”

The move to Baltimore was chaotic. On April 1—four weeks before the draft—a skeleton crew of Cleveland refugees moved into the Colts’ old facility. The building had almost no furniture; there was dust everywhere and there was no place to file anything. “All of our scouting reports and tapes were lined up in the hallway outside our offices,” Phil Savage, who had come with Newsome as the newly minted director of college personnel, remembered. “It was hard to believe you were working in the NFL.”

The team had to purge some salaries to get under the cap in order to have a chance to sign the two first-round draft picks they were entitled to. Key veterans, such as linebacker Pepper Johnson, wide receiver Andre Rison, and cornerback Donnie Griffin, had to be cut. “We had fifty-one players under contract and no practice squad,” Newsome said. “It was all we could afford.”

And yet the Ravens came up with that historic draft, taking Ogden and Lewis in the first round, working from that shell of a building. Certainly there was some luck involved. The Ravens were convinced that Arizona was going to take Ogden with the third pick, but the Cardinals ended up taking Simeon Rice. “They actually tried to bluff us,” Newsome said. “They thought we wanted Phillips, so Mr. [Cardinals owner Bill] Bidwill had his people write a card in New York that our guys could see that said, ‘Lawrence Phillips,’ on it to try to get us into trading up with them. Oldest trick in the book. Plus, I didn’t want Phillips anyway.”

Modell did. He kept pointing out that the team needed a running back. Everyone in the room said the same thing. Newsome was determined to “stay true to the board,” meaning that he was going to take the highest-ranked player on the Ravens draft board when it came his turn to pick—regardless of position. Even though he had two experienced tackles, he believed Ogden could play guard for a year and then become a great tackle. So he took Ogden, and Phillips ended up going to the St. Louis Rams, where he became a complete bust.

The Ravens also needed a linebacker. A lot of teams were wary of Ray Lewis. He had refused to go through workouts at the combine—as did many players—and had interviewed there with only a few teams. The Ravens had been one of them. Even the Ravens had a Z, by his name on the board because he was “height deficient,” being just a shade over six feet tall. “What we saw was a little linebacker who was immature and, some people thought, pretty arrogant. But [assistant coach and former Pro Bowl linebacker] Maxie Baughn had gone down and worked him out and he came back and said, ‘The guy’s a competitor, a real competitor. And he can really shoot his gun.’”

In English that meant Lewis made plays—lots of plays. The Ravens took him. Even so, the rebuilding process was a slow one. By the third season, with the team in the new stadium and two more drafts in place, the team appeared ready to make a playoff run. Then came the opening-day debacle against Pittsburgh. That loss, as it turned out, was the beginning of the end for Marchibroda.

“I remember David [Modell] was ballistic after that game,” Newsome said, laughing. “I mean, he was mad at me, he was mad at Ted, he was mad at everybody. We had everything exactly right except for the way we played. After that, the pressure just kept building until it popped. It was almost inevitable.”

The final pop came on November 1, following a 45-19 home loss to Jacksonville, the team’s fourth straight loss. That dropped their record to 2-6. Those few fans who remained in the fourth quarter filled the stadium with chants of “Ted Must Go.”

One of the chanters may have been Art Modell. As soon as the game was over, Newsome got a call from Sam Miller, Modell’s assistant. Modell wanted a meeting—now. “I knew exactly what we were going to talk about,” Newsome said.

The meeting was in Modell’s box and included Art and David Modell, Jim Bailey, James Harris (Newsome’s head of pro scouting and confidant), and Newsome. The Modells wanted to fire Marchibroda on the spot. Newsome, remembering his vow not to make important decisions in the aftermath of a bad loss, counseled caution. “I said, ‘Who are you going to make coach if you fire Ted?’” he remembered. “‘If you name one of the assistants as an interim, what good does that do? Is there anyone on the staff or out there you want to commit to right now, give a long-term contract to, because if you want to hire someone permanently, you have to give them that contract and make that commitment.’”

Newsome won the debate. Marchibroda would be allowed to finish the season if only so that potential coaches wouldn’t see the Ravens as an organization in chaos. Modell asked Newsome and his son to head the search committee for a new coach and to begin their work immediately. Newsome liked that idea. “I never understood why, when you were making the decision that was probably going to make or break your team for the next few years—picking a coach—owners would do it by picking up a phone and asking a buddy, ‘Who do you like?’ or taking a recommendation from a friend. It was almost casual and it was so important. There’s no one more important in the organization than your coach, and you hire him just because your buddy said he’s a good guy?

“My idea was to mirror the approach we take in the draft. Put together a list with everyone on it and then winnow it down from there. David and I would meet almost every night at his house and all of us put in long hours, going down lists of names. We would usually have a bowl of macaroni and cheese that Art’s chef would make for dinner and then get Popeyes chicken when it got late. We started with every NFL coordinator and every major college coach on our list.

“We checked to make sure people weren’t interested. Shack [James Harris, whose nickname as a kid was “Sugarshack”] called Joe Gibbs to see if he was interested. No. We checked Steve Spurrier to see if he was interested. No. Eventually, we narrowed the list to people who were gettable and, we thought, good.”

The best-known name on the short list was Mike Holmgren, who was as hot as any coach in the NFL because he had just been to back-to-back Super Bowls in Green Bay. Holmgren was looking to leave Green Bay because he wanted to go someplace where he had total control. Newsome and Modell decided if Holmgren could be had, they should do whatever had to be done to get him. “We did our due diligence,” he said. “His wife was a Christian Scientist, so we found the one Christian Scientist church in the area for her. I had told the Modells that if Mike Holmgren needs absolute power to come, give it to him, I’ll relinquish mine if that’s what is best for the team and, to tell the truth, I thought it might very well be. We were looking at George Seifert, too, but then Jerry Richardson [Carolina’s owner] snapped him up.

“Turned out we never got the chance to interview Holmgren. We had a plane waiting in Seattle to bring him here after he talked to Paul Allen, but he never got on it because Allen offered him total control and so much money that he couldn’t turn it down.”

They ended up with four coordinators as finalists: Brian Billick, Chris Palmer, Jim Haslett, and Emmitt Thomas. The hot name was Billick because the Vikings had just set a handful of offensive records. Palmer was also an offensive coordinator and the other two were defensive coordinators, not a bad thing in Newsome’s mind since the Ravens were building a very strong defense. He was a little concerned that Palmer kept talking about how his old boss, Bill Parcells, would do things. “I always remember Coach Bryant telling all of us that if we got into coaching, not to try to emulate him because you have to be your own guy. You can learn from Coach Bryant or Parcells, but you can’t be them.

“Brian was impressive for several reasons. First, I talked to a lot of people about him and so did David. Cris Carter [the Vikings wide receiver] told me they had hated each other at first, but that had changed and they got along well. I asked him if he would come and play for him if he had the chance and he said absolutely. Warren Moon said the same thing. Bill Walsh [Billick’s first mentor] said we couldn’t go wrong if we hired him.

“But what sold me was when we talked to him. There just wasn’t any of the same old rhetoric you hear from guys when they’re trying to get a job. He was above the curve. I could tell he was a risk taker. At one point I asked him how we would resolve differences we might have on the draft and the roster, did he think we would be able to compromise? And he just said, ‘No, Ozzie, I don’t believe in compromise. Because if we compromise, then neither of us is responsible for the final decision.’ I liked that. Then he said that either I would convince him or he would convince me. I liked that, too. I also liked the fact that he was up front about feeling that way.”

By the Friday before the NFC Championship Game between Atlanta and Minnesota, the Ravens had decided that Billick was their choice. They couldn’t formally offer him the job while his team was still in the playoffs, but they made it known to him that the job was his if he wanted it. The word that came back was: I’ll get back to you. The reason: the new Cleveland Browns were also making a big play for Billick.

“Art was furious,” Newsome said. “Especially since it was Cleveland. He said, ‘If he doesn’t want it, forget it, let’s go hire Chris Palmer.’ We convinced him, let’s wait and see. I think David and I both thought he was really the guy. When the Vikings lost that Sunday, Dwight Clark [Cleveland’s general manager] was up there with a plane and orders to bring Brian to Cleveland to make a deal and sign him. But David got the deal done by phone. He and Brian talked numbers, we talked about those numbers, and then made a deal. We flew him in and introduced him the next day. Then we got on a plane together to go to the Senior Bowl [in Mobile, Alabama], and Brian showed me on his computer some of his plans for the off-season. I was amazed. He had done, in a few hours, things we used to spend days charting and planning. I can remember thinking, ‘We’ve got the right guy now. Let’s go to work.’”
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